RECEIVED

03-16-2016

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2015AP002535-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ARTHUR ALLEN FREIBOTH,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction, Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Lindsey Grady Presiding, and an Order Denying Post-Conviction Relief, Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Jeffrey A. Kremers, Presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

HANNAH SCHIEBER JURSS Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1081221

ISSUE PRESENTED

Is Mr. Freiboth entitled to an evidentiary hearing under *State v. Bangert*, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986), because the circuit court failed to advise him of the \$1,000 mandatory DNA surcharges he faced by entering his pleas—surcharges which, pursuant to *State v. Radaj*, 2015 WI App 50, 363 Wis. 2d 633, 866 N.W.2d 758, were punitive?

The circuit court did not as part of its plea colloquy advise Mr. Freiboth that he would have to pay \$1,000 in DNA surcharges. The court denied Mr. Freiboth's motion for plea withdrawal without an evidentiary hearing.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION AND ORAL ARGUMENT

Mr. Freiboth welcomes oral argument. Publication is warranted to address whether, pursuant to the requirements of Wisconsin Statute § 971.08 and *State v. Brown*, 2004 WI App 179, 276 Wis. 2d 559, 687 N.W.2d 543, a circuit court must advise a defendant who is entering a plea to multiple felony offenses about the mandatory DNA surcharges.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

The State charged Mr. Freiboth with five counts related to alleged violence towards D.B., on July 27, 2014. (2).

Mr. Freiboth ultimately entered a plea. (33:1-19;App.124-128). In exchange for his plea to four of the five counts in this case, the State agreed to move to dismiss and read-in the fifth count, as well as additional counts of bail jumping from two other cases (33:2-3;App.124).²

The circuit court conducted a colloquy with Mr. Freiboth at the plea hearing. (33:4-17;App.124-128). As part of this colloquy, the court explained that it was not bound by any of the recommendations and could impose up to the maximum penalties on each of the four counts. (33:5;App.125). It noted that each count to which he pled was a Class H Felony, which carried a maximum penalty of six years of imprisonment and/or a \$10,000 fine. (33:6-7;App.125). It explained that three of the four counts to which he pled were charged as domestic abuse, which meant that "a

The State charged the following five counts: (1) Felony Bail Jumping, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 946.49(1)(b); (2) Strangulation and Suffocation, Domestic Abuse Assessment, in violation of Wis. Stats. § 940.235(1), 968.075(1)(a), and 973.055(1); (3) Felony Bail Jumping, Domestic Abuse Assessment, in violation of Wis. Stats. § 946.49(1)(b), 968.075(1)(a), and 973.055(1); (4) Felony Bail Jumping, Domestic Abuse Assessment, in violation of Wis. Stats. § 946.49(1)(b), 968.075(1)(a), and 973.055(1); and (5) Strangulation and Suffocation, Domestic Abuse Assessment, in violation of Wis. Stats. § 940.235(1), 968.075(1)(a), and 973.055(1).

² Six additional counts of felony bail jumping, charged in Milwaukee County Cases 14-CF-3467 and 14-CF-3562, were ordered dismissed and read-in as part of the plea agreement in this case. (33:2-3;App.124).

domestic abuse assessment will be added as part of the costs." (33:6-7;App.125).

The court stated: "And you have to provide a DNA sample if you have not already done so. You have to pay for it no matter what." (33:9;App. 126). The court accepted his pleas and entered the judgments. (33:17-18;App.128). After doing so, the court stated: "You must give a DNA sample and pay for it." (33:18;App.128). It did not otherwise advise Mr. Freiboth that, upon entering his pleas, he would be required to pay a \$250 DNA surcharge for all four of the felony counts to which he pled. (*See generally* 33;App.124-136).

The court proceeded immediately to sentencing. (33:18-49;App.128-136). It imposed a total length of sentence of five years of initial confinement followed by seven years of extended supervision. (33:45-49;App.135-136). It also ordered Mr. Freiboth to pay the costs, fees, and surcharges, and noted: "[t]hat does include four DNA, three domestic abuse." (33:48;App.135).

The judgment of conviction reflects that Mr. Freiboth must pay \$1,000 in DNA surcharges. (17:2;App.102).

Mr. Freiboth filed a post-conviction motion seeking plea withdrawal on grounds that the circuit court failed to ensure that he understood one of the punishments he faced by entering his pleas—the imposition of \$1,000 in DNA surcharges. (23;App.112-123).

The circuit court denied his motion for plea withdrawal via written order, without an evidentiary hearing. (24;App.104-111). The court acknowledged that it "did not discuss the defendant's obligation to pay the mandatory DNA surcharges" during the plea colloquy. (24:2;App.105). The court further recognized that "[i]f the DNA surcharge is a

punishment, then a defendant has a due process right to be notified about the surcharge as a direct consequence of his or her plea." (24:5;App.108).

The court, however, concluded that the DNA surcharge "is not a punishment." (24:6;App.109). Therefore, it determined that it had no obligation to advise Mr. Freiboth about this consequence of his plea. (24:7;App.110).³

Mr. Freiboth now appeals the circuit court's order denying his motion for plea withdrawal.

³ Mr. Freiboth further moved the circuit court to set aside the previously-ordered bond forfeiture, and to vacate the domestic abuse surcharges and corresponding modifiers. (23;App.112-123). The court denied his motion to set aside the bond forfeiture, and entered an order holding his motion to vacate the domestic abuse surcharges and modifiers in abeyance, pending a decision in another case from this Court. (24;App.104-111). Mr. Freiboth subsequently withdrew his request to vacate the domestic abuse surcharges and modifiers so that he could proceed immediately with an appeal of the circuit court's order denying his motion for plea withdrawal. (25). Mr. Freiboth does not renew either his motion to vacate the domestic abuse surcharges and modifiers or to set aside the bond forfeiture on appeal.

ARGUMENT

- I. The Circuit Court Had a Duty to Advise Mr. Freiboth During the Plea Colloquy of the \$1,000 in DNA Surcharges He Would Be Required to Pay. The Circuit Court Erred in Denying Mr. Freiboth's Motion for Plea Withdrawal Without an Evidentiary Hearing.
 - A. Relevant principles of law and standards of review.

In order to withdraw a plea after sentencing, the defendant must show that the withdrawal is necessary to correct a "manifest injustice." *State v. Booth*, 142 Wis. 2d 232, 235, 418 N.W.2d 20 (Ct. App. 1987). A defendant meets this showing if the plea was not constitutionally valid. *Hatcher v. State*, 82 Wis. 2d 559, 565, 266 N.W.2d 320 (1978). To establish that a plea was not constitutionally valid, the defendant must show that it was not knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently entered. *State v. Bangert*, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 257, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986).

To show that a plea was not knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently entered, the defendant must make a *prima facie* showing that (1) a deficiency in the plea colloquy exists and (2) the defendant did not "know or understand the information that should have been provided at the plea hearing." *State v. Hoppe*, 2009 WI 41, ¶ 4, n.5, 317 Wis. 2d 161, 754 N.W.2d 794 (discussing the requirements of *Bangert*).

If a defendant "alleges sufficient material facts that, if true, would entitle [him] to relief," then he is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on the post-conviction motion. *State v. Love*, 2005 WI 116, ¶ 42, 284 Wis. 2d 111, 700 N.W.2d 62. "Once the defendant files a *Bangert* motion entitling him to

an evidentiary hearing, the burden shifts to the State to prove by clear and convincing evidence that the defendant's plea was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary despite the identified defects in the plea colloquy." *Hoppe*, 2009 WI 41, ¶ 44.

In deciding whether a guilty plea was voluntarily and knowingly entered, this Court accepts the circuit court's findings of evidentiary and historical fact unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Rodriguez*, 221 Wis. 2d 487, 492, 585 N.W.2d 701 (Ct. App. 1989). On the other hand, whether a plea was knowingly and voluntarily entered is a question of constitutional fact that this court reviews *de novo*. *State v. Brown*, 2004 WI App 179, 276 Wis. 2d 559, ¶ 5, 687 N.W.2d 543.

B. A circuit court must inform the defendant of the punishments he faces by entering guilty pleas.

In *Brown*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that a circuit court has a duty at a plea hearing to establish that the defendant understands, among other things, the "range of *punishments* to which he is subjecting himself by entering a plea". *Brown*, 293 Wis. 2d 594, ¶ 35. The general practice in this regard is to advise the defendant of the minimum and maximum penalties associated with a plea. *State v. Chamblis*, 2015 WI 53, ¶ 24, 362 Wis. 2d 380, 864 N.W.2d 806.

The circuit court here acknowledged that if the DNA surcharges were part of Mr. Freiboth's punishment, then it had an obligation to inform him of that punishment prior to accepting his pleas. (24:5;App.108). The court further acknowledged that it made no such advisement. (24:2;App.105). Thus, the central question in this case is whether \$1,000 of mandatory DNA surcharges were a part of the *punishment* Mr. Freiboth faced by entering his pleas.

C. The now-mandatory DNA surcharges are part of the punishment a defendant faces when he enters pleas to multiple felony offenses.

Before January 1, 2014, if a court imposed a sentence or placed a person on probation for a felony offense other than certain sex offenses, the court could—in its discretion—choose to impose a single \$250 DNA surcharge. *See* Wis. Stat. § 973.046(1g), (1r) (2011-12). A single \$250 DNA surcharge was mandatory for convictions for certain sex offenses. See Wis. Stat. § 973.046(1g), (1r) (2011-12). Regardless of the number of the convictions, if a court imposed the surcharge, it could only impose one, \$250 surcharge. *Id.*; *see also Radaj*, 2015 WI App 50, ¶ 8, n.3, 363 Wis. 2d 633.

Effective January 1, 2014, the Legislature amended Wisconsin Statute § 973.046(1r) to require a mandatory DNA surcharge in the amount of \$250 for each felony conviction and \$200 for each misdemeanor conviction. 2013 Wis. Act 20, §§ 2355, 9326, 9426.

In *Radaj*, this Court held that the mandatory DNA surcharge was a punishment violating constitutional protections against *ex post facto* punishments as applied to a defendant sentenced after January 1, 2014, for multiple felonies committed prior to the effective date of the amended statute. *Id.*, ¶¶ 1, 14, 35. There, the defendant plead guilty to four felony counts, and was thus assessed a DNA surcharge of \$1,000 (four felonies x \$250). *Id.* ¶ 5.

⁴ Violations of Wis. Stat. §§ 940.225, 948.02(1) or (2), 948.025, and 948.085 required courts to impose the DNA surcharge. Wis. Stat § 973.046(1r) (2011-12).

This Court noted that "[i]f there is no rational connection and the fee is excessive in relation to the activities it is intended to fund, then the fee in effect serves *as an additional criminal fine*, that is, the fee is punitive." Id., ¶ 25. For purposes of the *ex post facto* analysis, the Court assumed, without deciding, that the intent of the legislature in enacting the DNA surcharge statute was non-punitive. Id., ¶ 22. This Court found no non-punitive reason to explain why the total amount a defendant must pay towards the DNA surcharge imposed would correspond "not to costs, but to the number of convictions." Id., ¶ 30.

This Court acknowledged that—to survive an *ex post facto* constitutional challenge—the "connection between a surcharge and the costs it is intended to cover need not be perfect to be rational"; nevertheless, this Court held that "there must be some reason why the cost of the DNA-analysis-related activities under Wis. Stat. §§ 973.046 and 165.77 increases with the number of convictions." *Id.* Importantly, the Court "perceive[d] no reason why this might be true." *Id.*

This Court further elaborated as to why the lack of connection between the increasing costs of the surcharge per count and the statute's intended purpose rendered the DNA surcharge statute akin to other criminal penalties:

Taking Radaj as an example, suppose that, during plea negotiations, Radaj had somewhat more leverage and his plea agreement involved him entering pleas to two felonies, rather than four. If so, his DNA surcharge would have been \$500, rather than \$1,000. Or, suppose he had less leverage and entered pleas to eight felonies and four misdemeanors, making his DNA surcharge \$2,800. In either case, there is no reason to think that the costs associated with analyzing Radaj's DNA sample and undertaking the other DNA-analysis-realted

activities under § 165.77 would be affected. Rather, the smaller or larger surcharge, like the decrease or increase in Radaj's exposure to other criminal penalties, relates only to the number of convictions.

Id. (emphasis added). This Court therefore held that the perconviction approach to setting the DNA surcharge made the \$1,000 surcharge a punishment and, thus—in that case—an ex post facto violation. *Id.* ¶¶ 14, 35.

Here, the offenses to which Mr. Freiboth pled guilty occurred after the effective date of the amended DNA statute, *see* (2)(explaining that the offenses were alleged to have occurred on July 27, 2014), so there is no *ex post facto* challenge or violation in this matter.

Nevertheless, this Court's analysis and conclusion in *Radaj* that the DNA surcharge statute in effect functions as a punishment also applies here. Like the defendant in *Radaj*, Mr. Freiboth pled guilty to four felonies and was assessed a total of \$1,000 for the DNA surcharge based on the number of convictions. *See* (17:2;App.102). Just as in *Radaj*, here too there was no non-punitive reason why the amount Mr. Freiboth had to pay towards the DNA surcharge should increase with the number of convictions. Thus, rather than serving as a non-punitive civil fee or surcharge, the \$1,000 in DNA surcharges served as a punishment—it served, in effect, as "an additional criminal fine." *See id.* ¶ 25.

The circuit court pointed to *State v. Scruggs*, 2015 WI App 88, 365 Wis. 2d 568, 872 N.W.2d 146 (petition for review granted March 7, 2016), and to other cases discussing collateral consequences of plea agreements, as support for its conclusion that it had no obligation to inform Mr. Freiboth of the DNA surcharges he faced. (24:5-7;App.108-110). While this Court reviews independently the legal question of

whether the DNA surcharges constituted a punishment thus requiring the circuit court to verify that Mr. Freiboth understood the DNA surcharge punishments he faced, *see Brown*, 2004 WI App 179, it is worth noting why this case is distinguishable from those cited by the circuit court.

First, *Scruggs* does not apply because it deals with the imposition of a *single* DNA surcharge. 2005 WI App 88. In *Scruggs*, the defendant committed an offense before January 1, 2014, but was sentenced for a single felony offense after that date. *Id.*, ¶ 2. This Court held that the mandatory single DNA surcharge of \$250 did not constitute an *ex post facto* punishment as applied to Scruggs. *Id.*, ¶¶ 13-18. Unlike in *Radaj*, in *Scruggs* this Court found that the "relatively small size" of the single \$250 charge "indicates that the fee applied here was not intended to be a punishment, but rather an administrative charge to pay for the collection of the sample from Scruggs, along with expenditures needed to administer the DNA data bank." *Id.*, ¶ 13.

Here, however, unlike *Scruggs*, but like *Radaj*, Mr. Freiboth faced not a mere single surcharge of \$250, but \$1,000 in DNA surcharges, without any apparent connection between the increased surcharge costs and the number of convictions to which he pled. *See* 365 Wis. 2d 568, ¶¶ 9, 19; *Radaj*, 2015 WI App 50, ¶ 5.

This case is further distinguishable from *Dugan*, 193 Wis. 2d 610, 534 N.W.2d 897 (Ct.App.1995), and *State v. Bollig*, 2000 WI 6, 232 Wis. 2d 561, 605 N.W.2d 199, both of which involved collateral consequences of a plea agreement. In *Dugan*, this Court held that restitution, even if it is "definitive, immediate, and largely automatic," is not a *punishment* for purposes of Wisconsin Statute § 971.08. 193 Wis. 2d at 618, n.4, 624. This Court explained that while a

circuit court must inform a defendant of the direct consequences of his plea, a court is not required to do the same with regard to collateral consequences of a plea. *Id.* at 618. It clarified that "[t]he distinction between direct and collateral consequences of a plea turns on whether the result represents a definite, immediate, and largely automatic effect on the range of the defendant's punishment." *Id.* (internal citations omitted)(emphasis added). It reasoned that although restitution has some "punitive effects," the primary goal of restitution is to rehabilitate offenders and make victims whole. *Id.* at 620-22.

Similarly, in **Bollig**, the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that sex offender registration was not primarily a punishment: "Simply because registration can work a punitive effect, we are not convinced that such an effect overrides the primary and remedial goal . . . to protect the public." 2000 WI 6, \P 26.

Thus, because the primary goals and effects of the restitution and sex offender registration statutes, respectively, are non-punitive, those ramifications constitute collateral consequences of a plea.

Here, on the other hand, this Court has held that when a defendant is convicted of multiple felonies, the primary effect of the mandatory DNA surcharges *is* punitive, as there is "no reason to think that the costs associated with analyzing" a defendant's DNA sample and "undertaking the other DNA-analysis-realted activities" increases with each additional conviction. *See Radaj*, 2015 WI App 50, ¶ 30. Indeed, there is *no non-punitive* reason why the amount of the surcharge should increase with the number of convictions. *See id.*, ¶ 30-32. In cases in which a defendant is convicted of multiple felony counts, the DNA surcharge statute thus

functions as punishment, and is in turn a direct consequence of a plea.

D. As Mr. Freiboth met his *prima facie* burden for plea withdrawal, the circuit court erred in denying his motion without an evidentiary hearing.

Because the DNA surcharge was a punishment and because the court was required to establish at the plea hearing that Mr. Freiboth understood the punishments he faced, the circuit court was required to explain to Mr. Freiboth, and verify that he understood, that he faced mandatory DNA surcharges totaling \$1,000, in addition to the maximum potential terms of imprisonment and fines he faced.

As Mr. Freiboth alleged and explained in his post-conviction motion, the circuit court failed to ensure that Mr. Freiboth understood the DNA surcharge punishment he faced. (23:6-8;App.117-119); *see generally* (33;App.124-136). The circuit court itself acknowledged that it did not do so. (24:2;App.105). Thus, Mr. Freiboth met his burden to establish a deficiency in the plea colloquy. *See Hoppe*, 2009 WI 4, ¶4, n.5.

Mr. Freiboth also met his burden to allege that he did not know or understand the information that should have been explained. *See id.* As provided in his post-conviction motion: "Mr. Freiboth asserts, and at a hearing would testify, that prior to entering his plea, he did not know that he would be required to pay a \$250 DNA surcharge for each count to which he pled." (23:8-9;App.119-120).

As he demonstrated both a deficiency in the plea colloquy and a lack of understanding of that which the court failed to explain, Mr. Freiboth's post-conviction motion

established his *prima facie* burden for plea withdrawal; he is entitled to an evidentiary hearing. *See Love*, 2005 WI 116, \P 42; *Hoppe*, 2009 WI 41, \P 44. The circuit court erred in denying his post-conviction motion without an evidentiary hearing.

CONCLUSION

For these reasons, Mr. Freiboth respectfully requests that this Court enter an order reversing the circuit court's decision denying his motion for plea withdrawal, and remanding this matter for an evidentiary hearing.