### **RECEIVED**

### STATE OF WISCONSIN

05-31-2016

### COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

**DISTRICT I** 

Case No. 2015AP2535-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ARTHUR ALLEN FREIBOTH,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE LINDSEY GRADY AND THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. KREMERS, PRESIDING

### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

JEFFREY J. KASSEL Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1009170 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Given the nature of the arguments raised in the brief of defendant-appellant Arthur Allen Freiboth, the State exercises its option not to present a statement of the case. *See* Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.19(3)(a). The relevant facts and procedural history will be discussed in the argument section of this brief.

#### **ARGUMENT**

Freiboth was charged with two counts of suffocation and strangulation as acts of domestic abuse and three counts of bail jumping, two of which also were charged as acts of domestic abuse. (2:1-2; 6:1-2.) He reached a plea agreement with the State pursuant to which he entered guilty pleas to one count of strangulation and suffocation and three counts of bail jumping.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This issue is also before the court of appeals in *State v. Tydis Trinard Odom*, no. 2015AP2525-CR (Dist. I).

(33:4, 9-10, A-App. 124, 126.) The remaining charge in this case was dismissed and read in, as were charges in two other pending cases. (33:4, 18, A-App. 124, 128.)

Freiboth filed a postconviction motion in which, as relevant to this appeal, he asserted that he was entitled to withdraw his pleas because the court failed to inform him at the plea hearing that he faced mandatory DNA surcharges totaling \$1,000 and he did not know that the surcharge would be imposed. (23:5-9, A-App. 116-20.) He argued that the court was required to inform him of the surcharge because the court of appeals held in *State v. Radaj*, 2015 WI App 50, 363 Wis. 2d 633, 866 N.W.2d 758, that "the DNA surcharge is a punishment when assessed against a defendant with multiple convictions." (23:6, A-App. 117.) The circuit court denied the motion, holding that the mandatory DNA surcharges were not punishment and that the court was not required to inform Freiboth of them when taking his plea. (24:7, A-App. 110.)

The sole issue that Freiboth raises on appeal is whether he is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on his claim that he should be allowed to withdraw his pleas because the court failed to advise him of the mandatory DNA surcharges. The State agrees with the postconviction court that the plea-taking court was not required to inform Freiboth of the surcharges. Before addressing that issue, though, the State will discuss an

alternate ground for affirming the order denying Freiboth's postconviction motion, that the court's decision in *Radaj* does not undermine the validity of Freiboth's pleas because it was decided after he entered those pleas. *See State v. Darcy N.K.*, 218 Wis. 2d 640, 651, 581 N.W.2d 567 (Ct. App. 1998) ("a respondent may advance for the first time on appeal any argument that will sustain the trial court's ruling").

## I. RADAJ DOES NOT UNDERMINE THE VALIDITY OF FREIBOTH'S GUILTY PLEAS BECAUSE IT WAS DECIDED AFTER HE ENTERED THE PLEAS.

There is a timing issue in this case that neither the parties nor the court addressed below and that Freiboth has not addressed on appeal. Freiboth entered his guilty pleas on September 16, 2014. (33:1, 9-10, A-App. 124, 126.) The court of appeals decided *Radaj* on May 21, 2015, and that decision was ordered published on June 24, 2015.<sup>2</sup> *Radaj* was not decided until eight months after Freiboth entered his pleas and did not become binding authority until nine months after the pleas. *See* Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.23(3).

The United States Supreme Court has held that "a voluntary plea of guilty intelligently made in the light of the

- 3 -

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See https://wscca.wicourts.gov/appealHistory.xsl;jsessionid=DBE960909C 542144E409297E378D047F?caseNo=2014AP002496&cacheId=AA6501922247 A3B988E04C3F29C04B87&recordCount=2&offset=1&linkOnlyToForm=fals e&sortDirection=DESC.

then applicable law does not become vulnerable because later judicial decisions indicate that the plea rested on a faulty premise." *Brady v. United States*, 397 U.S. 742, 757 (1970). At the plea hearing, the court asked Freiboth's counsel if he had advised Freiboth "of the maximum possible penalties including felony warnings"; counsel responded that he had. (33:12-13, A-App. 126-27.) Freiboth does not explain how, at the time of the plea hearing, the circuit court or his lawyer could have anticipated the *Radaj* decision. *Cf. State v. Maloney*, 2005 WI 74, ¶ 23, 281 Wis. 2d 595, 698 N.W.2d 58 ("[B]ecause the law is not an exact science and may shift over time, the rule that an attorney is not liable for an error of judgment on an unsettled proposition of law is universally recognized.").

Freiboth voluntarily entered his guilty pleas under then applicable law, which did not characterize multiple DNA surcharges as having a punitive effect for ex post facto purposes. Even if *Radaj*'s holding that multiple DNA surcharges have a punitive effect for ex post facto purposes were relevant to the plea-taking process, it does not undermine the validity of pleas entered before the decision was published.

# II. FREIBOTH IS NOT ENTITLED TO WITHDRAW HIS GUILTY PLEAS BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT WAS NOT REQUIRED TO INFORM HIM ABOUT THE DNA SURCHARGES AT THE PLEA HEARING.

#### A. Standard of review.

When a defendant seeks to withdraw a guilty plea after sentencing, he must prove by clear and convincing evidence that a refusal to allow withdrawal of the plea would result in manifest injustice. *State v. Brown*, 2006 WI 100, ¶ 18, 293 Wis. 2d 594, 716 N.W.2d 906. One way for a defendant to meet this burden is to show that he did not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily enter the plea. *Id*.

Whether a plea is knowing, intelligent, and voluntary is a question of constitutional fact. *Id.* ¶ 19. An appellate court accepts the circuit court's findings of historical and evidentiary facts unless they are clearly erroneous but determines independently whether those facts demonstrate that the defendant's plea was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. *Id.* A defendant's claim that his plea was not knowing, intelligent, and voluntary based on alleged deficiencies in the plea colloquy that establish a violation of Wis. Stat. § 971.08 or other mandatory duties at a plea hearing presents a question of law that this court reviews de novo. *Id.* ¶ 21.

## B. The trial court was not required to inform Freiboth about the DNA surcharges at the plea hearing.

"Due process requires that 'a defendant's guilty plea must be affirmatively shown' to be knowing, intelligent, and voluntary." *State v. Taylor*, 2013 WI 34, ¶ 30, 347 Wis. 2d 30, 829 N.W.2d 482 (quoted sources omitted). "'The duties established in Wis. Stat. § 971.08, in *Bangert*,<sup>3</sup> and in subsequent cases are designed to ensure that a defendant's plea is knowing, intelligent, and voluntary.'" *Id.* (quoting *Brown*, 293 Wis. 2d 594, ¶ 23). "Before the court accepts a plea of guilty or no contest, it must '[a]ddress the defendant personally and determine that the plea is made voluntarily with understanding of the nature of the charge and the potential punishment if convicted.'" *Id.* (quoting Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(a)).

Making a defendant aware of the potential punishment generally means that a defendant must be aware of the direct consequences of his or her plea. *State v. Byrge*, 2000 WI 101, ¶ 60, 237 Wis. 2d 197, 614 N.W.2d 477. A direct consequence of a plea has "a definite, immediate, and largely automatic effect on the range of a defendant's punishment." *Id.* However, the circuit court need not inform a defendant of collateral

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> State v. Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986).

consequences of a plea. Id. ¶ 61. "The distinction between direct and collateral consequences essentially recognizes that it would be unreasonable and impractical to require a circuit court to be cognizant of every conceivable consequence before the court accepts a plea." Id.

Freiboth bases his contention that the circuit court was required to inform him about the mandatory DNA surcharges on the court of appeals' decision in *Radaj*. The issue in *Radaj* was whether applying the new mandatory surcharge to a defendant who committed four crimes before the effective date of the new surcharge statute but was sentenced after that date was an ex post facto violation. *See Radaj*, 363 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 1.

To answer that question, the court applied the two-part "intent-effects" test used in ex post facto cases to determine whether a statute is punitive. *See id.* ¶ 13. Under that test, the court first asks whether the legislature's "intent" was to punish or rather was to impose a non-punitive regulatory scheme. *See id.* This intent inquiry is "primarily a matter of statutory construction that asks whether the legislative body . . . 'indicated either expressly or impliedly a preference for one label or the other.'" *Id.* (quoted source omitted).

The "effects" prong "asks whether, despite the fact that the legislature intended a non-punitive regulatory scheme, 'the effects of the sanctions imposed by the law are 'so punitive . . . as to render them criminal." *Id.* ¶ 14 (quoted source omitted). When determining whether a scheme is punitive in effect, the court considers the following non-exhaustive list of factors:

(1) whether [the law in question] involves an affirmative disability or restraint; (2) whether it has historically been regarded as a punishment; (3) whether it comes into play only on a finding of scienter; (4) whether its operation will promote the traditional aims of punishment-retribution and deterrence; (5) whether the behavior to which [the law] applies is already a crime; (6) whether an alternative purpose to which it may rationally be connected is assignable for it; and (7) whether it appears excessive in relation to the alternative purpose assigned.

### *Id.* (quoted source omitted).

The *Radaj* court assumed without deciding that the legislature's intent was nonpunitive. *Id.* ¶ 22. But, the court held, the effect of assessing a \$250 DNA surcharge for each felony conviction was punitive because the \$1,000 surcharge "is not rationally connected and is excessive in relation to the surcharge's intended purpose" and "its effect is to serve traditionally punitive aims." *Id.* ¶ 35

The unstated premise of Freiboth's argument is that because multiple DNA surcharges have a punitive effect for ex post facto purposes, they necessarily constitute punishment for purposes of a valid plea colloquy. But he cites no authority for that proposition. It is hardly a self-evident proposition, as the tests for determining what is punishment for ex post facto

purposes is different than the test for when a consequence is punishment for purposes of a valid plea colloquy. *Compare Byrge*, 237 Wis. 2d 197, ¶¶ 60-61, with *Radaj*, 363 Wis. 2d 633, ¶¶ 13-14.

Restitution provides a good illustration of that difference. Many federal and state courts have held that restitution is punishment under an ex post facto analysis and that the ex post facto clause prohibits the retroactive application of statutes imposing new or expanded restitution obligations.<sup>4</sup> But this court held in *State v. Dugan*, 193 Wis. 2d 610, 534 N.W.2d 897 (Ct. App. 1995), that a trial court need not address restitution during a plea colloquy even though restitution has a punitive effect.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See, e.g., United States v. Schulte, 264 F.3d 656, 661-62 (6th Cir. 2001); United States v. Richards, 204 F.3d 177, 213 (5th Cir. 2000), overruled on other grounds by United States v. Cotton, 535 U.S. 625 (2002); United States v. Siegel, 153 F.3d 1256, 1260 (11th Cir. 1998); United States v. Edwards, 162 F.3d 87, 89-91 (3d Cir. 1998); United States v. Rezaq, 134 F.3d 1121, 1141, n.13 (D.C. Cir. 1998); United States v. Baggett, 125 F.3d 1319, 1322 (9th Cir. 1997); United States v. Thompson, 113 F.3d 13, 15 n.1 (2d Cir. 1997); United States v. Williams, 128 F.3d 1239, 1241 (8th Cir. 1997); Eichelberger v. State, 916 S.W.2d 109, 112 (Ark. 1996); In the Matter of Appeal in Maricopa Cnty. Juvenile Action No. J-92130, 677 P.2d 943, 946-47 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1984); People v. Zito, 10 Cal. Rptr. 2d 491, 494 (Cal Ct. App. 1992); State v. Corwin, 616 N.W.2d 600, 602 (Iowa 2000); Spielman v. State, 471 A.2d 730, 734-35 (Md. 1984); People v. Slocum, 539 N.W.2d 572, 574 (Mich. Ct. App. 1995); State v. McMann, 541 N.W.2d 418, 422 (Neb. Ct. App. 1995); State v. Short, 350 S.E.2d 1, 2 (W. Va. 1986); but see United States v. Nichols, 169 F.3d 1255, 1279-80 (10th Cir. 1999); *United States v. Newman,* 144 F.3d 531, 542 (7th Cir. 1998).

The court "beg[a]n by rejecting Dugan's unspoken notion that the consequences of a sentencing proceeding (whether they be incarceration, a fine, restitution, probation, or conditions of probation) can or should be exclusively catalogued as either punishment or rehabilitation." *Id.* at 619. "Instead," the court said, "such consequences represent a blend of both concepts." *Id.* 

Restitution, the court concluded, is no different. *Id.* at 620. Restitution "is commonly considered as a rehabilitative tool to the offender and as a compensatory tool to the victim." *Id.* "However, by appropriating the offender's money or property to pay the victim, restitution can also be said to work a punitive effect." *Id.* "Thus," the court held, "simply saying a sentencing provision works a punitive or rehabilitative effect begs the question before us as to what warnings must be included in a valid plea colloquy." *Id.* (emphasis added). "Rather, recognizing that both concepts are at work, we must decide the fundamental purpose of the sentencing provision at issue." *Id.* 

The court did not find it significant that that the legislature stated in the restitution statute that a sentencing court should order restitution "in addition to any other penalty." *Id.* (quoting Wis. Stat. § 973.20(1). "This language simply recognizes . . . that restitution can work a punitive effect. It does not mean, however, that restitution does not also

work a rehabilitative effect and that such may be the basic and fundamental purpose of restitution." *Id*.

The court held "that the primary and fundamental goal of restitution is the rehabilitation of the offender" rather than punishment. *Id.* at 620-21. It observed that the potential Class C penalties for Dugan's crime of aggravated battery were "a fine not to exceed \$10,000 or imprisonment not to exceed 10 years, or both." Id. at 621 (quoting Wis. Stat. § 939.50(1), (3)(c)). The court noted that "[t]hese potential punishments were set out in the ch. 939, Stats., 1991-92, subchapter entitled 'Penalties'" and that "[n]owhere in this subchapter is restitution enumerated as a potential penalty or punishment for any classification of crime or forfeiture." Id. The court said that "[i]f the legislature had truly intended restitution to constitute 'potential punishment' for purposes of the plea colloquy statute, § 971.08, Stats., it would have formally included such among the 'Penalties' in the sections of the criminal code devoted to that specific topic." *Id*.

The court noted that "the plain meaning of the word 'restitution' support[ed its] conclusion." *Id.* at 621. "Restitution is defined as an 'equitable remedy under which a person is restored to his or her original position prior to loss or injury, or placed in the position he or she would have been, had the breach not occurred." *Id.* (quoted source omitted). "This

definition," the court observed, "does not have a punitive ring." *Id*. The court said that the restitution statute "reflects a strong equitable public policy that victims should not have to bear the burden of losses if the defendant is capable of making restitution." *Id*. at 622.<sup>5</sup>

Dugan's rationale and conclusion apply to Freiboth's claim that the trial court was required to inform him of the DNA surcharge. Like the restitution statute at issue in *Dugan*, Wis. Stat. § 973.20, the DNA surcharge statute, Wis. Stat. § 973.046(1r), is not included in the "penalties" subchapter of chapter 939. *See Dugan*, 193 Wis. 2d at 621. "If the legislature had truly intended [the DNA surcharge] to constitute 'potential punishment' for purposes of the plea colloquy statute, § 971.08, Stats., it would have formally included such among the

\_

on the federal Victim and Witness Protection Act (VWPA), 18 U.S.C. § 3663. *See Dugan*, 193 Wis. 2d at 623. It also noted that "the Ninth Circuit, in examining the purpose of restitution under 18 U.S.C. § 3663, concluded: "The primary purpose of the Victim and Witness Protection Act, unlike a forfeiture statute, is not to punish the defendant but to compensate the victim." *Id.* at 623-24 (quoting *United States v. Salcedo-Lopez*, 907 F.2d 97, 99 (9th Cir. 1990) (italics omitted). Yet the Ninth Circuit later held that "to avoid running afoul of the *Ex Post Facto* Clause," the district court should apply the version of the VWPA in effect when the defendants committed the crime rather than a subsequently enact amended version of the VWPA that "had the potential to increase the amount of restitution they would have to pay." *United States v. Baggett*, 125 F.3d 1319, 1322 (9th Cir. 1997). These Ninth Circuit cases demonstrate that punishment for ex post facto purposes is broadly defined.

'Penalties' in the sections of the criminal code devoted to that specific topic." *Id*.

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